RECEIVED

IN THE WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT 2-2018

Case No. 2015AP001083CR CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

GARY L. WAYERSKI,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING A JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POST CONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DUNN COUNTY, HONORABLE MAUREEN BOYLE, BARRON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Edward J. Hunt
Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner's Attorney
State Bar No. 1005649
HUNT LAW GROUP, S.C.
342 N WATER STREET
MILWAUKEE, WI 53202
(414) 225-0111

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Was trial counsel ineffective where he did not ask the testifying defendant during surrebuttal testimony about the purported confession he gave to John Clark, a jail inmate and rebuttal witness, and the defendant would have denied the conversation occured?

Both the circuit court and the court of appeals answered no.

II. Did the state violate **Brady**, **Giglio**, and **Kyles** when it did not inform the defense that John Clark, a jail inmate and rebuttal witness, had pending child-sex charges at the time of his testimony?

Both the circuit court and the court of appeals answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the court's grant of review, oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By summons and criminal complaint filed on July, 28 2011, the State charged Gary L. Wayerski in a criminal complaint in Dunn County Case No.11 CF 186 with seven felony counts involving sexual misconduct with two

juvenile victims, J.P. and J.H. from March through the middle of July, 2011. (1:1-5) An initial appearance was held on the same day. (98:1-8; 2:1).

Following a preliminary hearing on August 9, 2009, probable cause was found. Wayerski was bound over for arraignment. (101:17). On August 16, 2011, an Information was filed charging Wayerski with fourteen felony charges involving sexual misconduct and assaults of two juvenile victims, J.P. and J.H., from March through the middle of July, 2011. (102:1-11). Wayerski filed a standard discovery demand pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 971.23(1). (4)

An Amended Information was filed on March 26, 2012, charging Wayerski with a total of 16 felony offenses. The charges may be summarized as follows in the order listed in the amended information. The first count charges Wayerski with Child Enticement, a Class D felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.07(3)(a), on or about March of 2011 naming, J.H., a child as the victim; the second count charges Wayerski with Child Enticement, , a Class D felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.07(3)(a), on or about March of 2011 naming J.P., a child, as the victim; the third count charges Wayerski with Exposing Genitals or Pubic Area, a Class I felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.10 (1)&(1)(a), by causing, J.H., a child to expose his genitals for purposes of sexual arousal or gratification on or about July 2011; the fourth count charges Wayerski with Exposing Genitals or Pubic Area, a Class I felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.10(1)&(1)(a), by causing, J.P., a child to expose his genitals for purposes of sexual arousal or

gratification on or about March of 2011 to July 15, 2011; the fifth count charges Wayerski with Exposing a Child to Harmful Material, a Class I felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.11(2)(a), on or about March of 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.H., a child as the victim; the sixth count charges Wayerski with Exposing a Child to Harmful Material, a Class I felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.11(2)(a), on or about March of 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.P., a child as the victim; the seventh count charges Wayerski with Causing Child Older than 13 to View/Listen to Sexual Activity, a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.055(1)&(2)(b), on or about March of 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, JHM, a child as the victim; the eighth count charges Wayerski with Causing Child Older than 13 to View/Listen to Sexual Activity, a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.055(1)&(2)(b), on or about March, 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.P., a child as the victim; the ninth count charges Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Masturbation on futon with J.H. present), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a), on or about March, 2011 to July of 2011 naming, J.H., a child as the victim; the tenth count charges Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Masturbation with ejaculation onto plate), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a) on or about March, 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.P., as the victim; the eleventh count charges Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Masturbation while kneeling on table), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a), on or about March, 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.H., a child

as the victim; the twelfth count charges Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Felatio), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a), on or about March, 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.P., a child as the victim; the thirteenth count charges Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person, Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Masturbation on futon with J.H. present), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a) on or about March, 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.P., a child as the victim; count fourteen charges Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Touching testicles and penis during workout), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a) on or about March, 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.P., a child as the victim; count fifteen charging Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Spanking buttocks with with metal spoon), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a) on or about March 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.H., a child as a victim; count sixteen charging Wayerski with Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person Who Works or Volunteers With Children (Spanking buttocks while J.P. was laying on defendant's lap), a Class H felony, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 948.095(3)(a) on or about March, 2011 to July 15, 2011 naming, J.P., a child as the victim. (16:1-5).

At a jury trial held from October 8, 2012 to October 12, 2012 in the Circuit Court of Dunn County, the testimony and evidence recounted below was heard and received into evidence.

In the fall of 2010, when J.P. was 16, he met Gary Wayerski, police chief for the town of Wheeler. Sometime after they met, J.P. committed a theft at a local church. Although J.P. was never formally adjudicated guilty of the theft, a probation officer was involved. J.P.'s supervision was informal. Wayerski knew his probation officer. Wayerski acted as a mentor during his period of supervision. Wayerski spoke to J.P. and his parents about mentoring J.P. at this time. Everyone agreed to this arrangement. (116:5-13).

Between March and July 16, 2011, J.P., a juvenile, claimed that Wayerski had sexual contact with him on multiple occasions at Wayerski's apartment in Menomonie, Wisconsin, often masturbating him to the point of ejaculation, spanking him at Wayerski's apartment and spanking him while on a long distance road trip when he accompanied Wayerski driving a semi truck. J.P. further claimed that Wayerski performed oral sex on him during this same period of time in Wayerski's apartment. Wayerski and J.P. also watched pornography on multiple occasions during the same time period in Wayerski's apartment. Finally, J.P. related that there were times he and his friend J.H., another juvenile, would both watch pornography with Wayerski and Wayerski would grab their penises and masturbate both of them. On one occasion, J.P. said the Wayerski asked him to ejaculate onto a plate. At that time, Wayerski masturbated J.P. and J.P. masturbated himself until he ejaculated onto the plate.. During this entire period, Wayerski was employed as a police officer. J.P.'s testimony is completely lacking in any specifics as to time and dates of all these occurrences. J.P. never reported

any of these occurrences to law enforcement until July 16, 2011. (116: 5-66).

In March 2011, J.H., at age 17, committed a theft from a church. Wayerski issued a disorderly conduct ticket to him. However, J.H. stated he worked it out with Wayerski and he was required to perform ten hours of community service. J.H. was on a "probation type deal for about six month" and was to "keep himself out of trouble". Wayerski was to supervise him on probation. Wayerski told J.H. "if I did what I was told with the community service and the six month of staying out of trouble, that it would be off my record completely". Wayerski was the Chief of Police in Wheeler, Wisconsin. (116: 127-134).

Between March and July 2011, J.H. spent time with Wayerski at Wayerski's apartment. During this period, J.H. claimed Wayerski had sexual contact with him and masturbated him. On one occasion, J.H. accompanied Wayerski on a road trip while Wayerski drove a semi truck. At some point, Wayerski pulled the semi truck over and parked at a rest stop. There J.H. claimed Wayerski masturbated him and rubbed his testicles. Wayerski on other occasions spanked him with a spoon. During the spankings, J.H. was bent over a chair. Wayerski also had J.H. get up on a table on his arms and legs, "doggy style". Wayerski would then place Vaseline on his hand and masturbate J.H.. Wayerski called these events "milking me out". Wayerski and J.H. also watched pornography at Wayerski's apartment. J.H. described the pornography as "woman on man or man on woman". In the pornography, people were engaged in sexual acts with each other. J.H.

recalled that he and Wayerski watched pornography on a website called "Porn Hub". At times, while they were viewing pornography, J.H. claimed Wayerski masturbated him. J.H. also claimed that Wayerski provided alcohol to him and his friend J.P. while at Wayerski's apartment. Wayerski's sexual contact with J.H. occurred on multiple occasions. Additionally, J.H. claimed that Wayerski masturbated J.H. and J.P. at the same time as he sat between both of them. J.H. believed this last incident occurred the night before J.H. and J.P. reported Wayerski's sexual acts to his parents and law enforcements. J.H. and J.P. got into an argument with Wayerski at his apartment during their last visit at the apartment. J.H.'s testimony is completely lacking in any specifics as to time and dates of all these occurrences. J.H. never reported any of these occurrences to law enforcement until July 16, 2011. (116: 134-182).

In order to avoid a conflict of interest, investigation of the case was assigned to Eau Claire County Sheriff's Office rather than any Dunn County Law Enforcement in light of Wayerski's position as police officer and police chief in towns in Dunn County. On July 16, 2011, Detective Kuehn interviewed separately J.P. and J.H. regarding their allegations against Wayerski. Eventually he obtained a search warrant to search Wayerski's apartment and executed the search warrant. Recovered from Wayerski's residence were, among other items, a bottle of Vaseline, dog leashes, and a plate. The plate contained "a milky substance consistent with the cracking of an egg". The plate was found on the top of a clothes basket that was next to the kitchen table. He also observed a half-pint of

alcohol. (116:201-237). Detective Kuehn also seized a computer from Wayerski's apartment and another computer which was taken apart in various pieces on the floor in Wayerski's\ master bedroom. He also recovered a copy of a Charter bill. The bill indicated that Wayerski was the account holder related to on-demand or pay-perview matters. This same bill indicated the dates and names of pornography accessed. (116:201-237).

Extensive evidence of homosexual pornographic photos, homosexual sadomasochistic bondage pornography searches and website visits, photos of Wayerski's penis, and homosexual sadomasochistic texts from Wayerski's computers and his cell phone were admitted into evidence, seen by the jury and described to the jury. (97; 117: 101-117, 109; 117: 89-101).

Sarah Zastrow-Arkens, a DNA analysist with the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory, examined bucal swabs from Wayerski, J.P. and J.H.. She was able to obtain a male profile from non-sperm and sperm fractions from two separate swabbings of the plate recovered from Wayerski's apartment. Wayerski and J.H. were excluded as being the possible source of the profile detected from the plate. That DNA profile matched J.P.. The statistical likelihood that anyone else could have contributed that DNA was one in 28 quintillion. (97;116:212-215,: 117: 75-85).

Kay Detar testified that the boys were drinking and using Wayerski's computer without Wayerski's knowledge. Moreover J.P. admitted to Detar after Wayerski's arrest that "what they said to the cops was a lie". (118: 10-18). Tiffany Mullan testified that J.P. told her that all of the allegations against Wayerski were a "joke" and a "misunderstanding". (118: 33-37). Allan Meyer recounted how the boys told him that "We set him up. We got him". In particular, J.P. told Meyer that "[W]e got him. We ended up setting him up.". Wayerski was "too nosy". The boys did what they did because of drugs. (118: 45-49).

Wayerski, Village of Wheeler Police Chief and Part Time Police Officer for the Village of Boyceville, maintains he is innocent of all charges and all of the accusations of spanking, sexual assault, and showing the boys pornography. J.H. and J.P. had set him up and others had set him up. He also denied providing the boys with alcohol. Wayerski admits poor judgement for allowing the victims, J.P. and J.H., to consume alcohol at his residence, but denies ever engaging in sexual conduct with them. (118:77-201).

On rebuttal, a jail inmate, John Clark testified that Wayerski had confided in him, and Wayerski had confessed to committing sexual assaults of J.P. and J.H.. Clark also stated that Wayerski admitted he was aware of the viewing of pornography in his home by J.P. and J.H.. Clark was asked if he came forward to obtain some benefit for his testimony. He denied wanting any benefit. He seemed to suggest his motivation was outrage that the victims were kids. Clark said, "They're kids. I think that says it all." (118: 215-226, 224, 226).

Wayerski was the last witness called at trial. He was recalled to the stand after Clark had testified. Trial counsel

never asked him whether he confided and confessed to Clark that he had sexually assaulted the boys, J.P. and J.H., and allow them to view pornography. Trial counsel failed to ask Wayerski whether he had told Clark any of the matters about which Clark testified. (118:233-234).

Following the jury trial held from October 8, 2012 to October 12, 2012, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all sixteen counts in the 2nd Amended Information. (97; 119:123-128). On January 9, 2013, the Dunn County Circuit Court, Honorable William C. Stewart, presiding, sentenced Wayerski to a total of 14 years initial confinement and 16 years of extended supervision. As to count one, the defendant was sentenced to 7 years initial confinement and 8 years extended supervision. As to count two, the defendant was sentenced to 7 years initial confinement and 8 years extended supervision, to be served consecutively to count one. As to counts three and four, the defendant was sentenced to 1 year of initial confinement for each count and 2 years of extended supervision for each count, to be served concurrent with count one. As to counts five and six, the defendant was sentenced to 1 year of initial confinement for each count and 2 years of extended supervision for each count, to be served concurrent with count one. As to counts seven and eight, the defendant was sentenced to 3 years of initial confinement for each count and 1 year of extended supervision for each count, to be served concurrent with count one. As to counts nine through sixteen, the defendant was sentenced to 3 years of initial confinement for each count and 3 years of extended supervision for each count, to be served concurrent with

count one. The Judgement of Conviction was entered by the Dunn County Clerk of Circuit Court on January 9, 2013. (38:1-8; 120:1-75 App. 1: 1-8).

On May 28, 2014, Wayerski filed a motion for post-conviction relief requesting a new trial, pursuant to § 809.30, Wis. Stats, and affidavit in support of the post-conviction motion. (56: 1-4; 57:17). The Honorable Maureen D. Boyle, Circuit Court Judge for Barron County, presided over all three post -conviction motion hearings. (121: 1-162; 122:1-84; 123:1-144). The first post-conviction motion hearing was held on December 29, 2014. Attorney Lester Liptak, Wayerski's trial counsel, and Wayerski testified. (121: 1-162).

On February 2, 2015, Wayerski filed a Post-Hearing Brief . (86:1-6). On February 23, 2015, the State's Response Brief was filed . (88:1-24). On March, 6, 2015, the second postconviction motion hearing was held. Eau Claire County Sheriff Department Deputy Scott Kuehn testified. (122:1-84). On May 4, 2015, at the final hearing on the post-conviction motion, the court denied the motion for new trial. (123:1-144; App. 2: 1-5; App. 3:1-11). On May 14, 2015, a written Order denying the motion for post-conviction relief, signed by the Honorable Maureen D. Boyle, Barron County Circuit Court, was entered in the Dunn County Circuit Court. (94:1-4; App. 4:1-4). On May 22, 2015, Wayerski timely filed a Notice of Appeal from the Judgement of Conviction and Order denying his post-conviction motion. (95:1-5).

On October 31, 2017, the Wisconsin Court of

Appeals issued a decision affirming the Judgement of Conviction and the Order Denying the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. (State v. Gary Lee Wayerski, 2015AP1083, Slip Opinion at 1-31; App. 5:1-31). Wayerski continues to serve his sentence of imprisonment. Further facts will be discussed where necessary below.

ARGUMENT

I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHERE HE DID NOT ASK THE TESTIFYING DEFENDANT DURING SURREBUTTAL TESTIMONY ABOUT THE PURPORTED CONFESSION HE GAVE TO JOHN CLARK, A JAIL INMATE AND REBUTTAL WITNESS, AND DEFENDANT WOULD HAVE DENIED THE CONVERSATION OCCURRED.

A. The Standard of Review.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present mixed questions of fact and law. *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis.2d 628, 633-34, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). A trial court's factual findings must be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis.2d 353, 376, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987). Whether counsel's performance was deficient and, if so, whether the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant are questions of law, which an appellate court reviews *de novo*. *Pitsch*, 124 Wis.2d at 634, 639 N.W.2d 711.

B. The Constituonal Right to Effective Assistance of Counsel.

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to ... have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." U.S. CONST. Amend. VI (applicable to the States by U.S. CONST. Amend. XIV; See State v. Doe, 78 Wis. 2d 161, 254 N.W.2d 210 (1977)); See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); WIS. CONST. Art. 1, Sec 7. Assistance of counsel must be "effective" to satisfy the Sixth Amendment. State v Felton, 110 Wis, 2d 485, 499, 329 N.W.2d 161, 167 (1983); State ex.rel. Seibert v Macht, 244 Wis.2d 378, 389, 627 N.W.2d 881, 886 (2001).

To establish a claim for inefffective assistance of counsel in violation of the United States and Wisconsin Consitutions, a defendant must show: 1) that counsel's performance was deficient and 2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *State v Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 274, 558 N.W.2d 379, 386 (1997); *Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d at 633, 369 N.W.2d at 714; *Seibert*, 244 Wis.2d at 391-92, 627 N.W.2d at 887.

1. Prong one of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim: deficient performance.

"To prove deficient performance [prong one] a defendant must establish that counsel 'made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the Defendant by the Sixth Amendment. "

Smith, 207 Wis. 2d at 274, 558 N.W.2d at 386 (citation omitted). The standard for deficient performance is if the

"counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688; *State v Ambuehl*, 145 Wis. 2d 343, 351, 425 N.W.2d 649, 652 (Ct.App.1988). In assessing the reasonableness of counsel's conduct, the court "should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

2. Prong two of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim: prejudice to the defense.

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