# RECEIVEDSTATE OF WISCONSIN05-13-2016

## COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2015AP1083-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GARY LEE WAYERSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE DUNN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM C. STEWART, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE DUNN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MAUREEN D. BOYLE, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

# C. To the extent that the admission of this evidence was error, it was harmless.

The admission of inadmissible evidence is subject to the harmless error rule, under which the reviewing court will reverse only if there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. See State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 542-43, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). "An error is harmless if there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the outcome of the trial." State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 62, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838 (citation omitted).

For the same reasons the State asserts that trial counsel's performance did not prejudice Wayerski's defense, the State asserts that any error in the admission of the sexually oriented evidence was harmless. This includes JDP's and JMH's detailed accounts of Wayerski's initial contacts with them through his police contacts. See discussion at Section V.D., below. Through these contacts, Wayerski groomed JDP and JMH, initiating his first sexual contacts with them under the guise of being interested in their physical fitness. Waverski frequently watched pornography with JDP and JMH. See discussion at Section III.B.1., above. JDP's mother and JMH's father both described how Wayerski's relationship with the family and JDP and JMH developed. Their testimony corroborated JDP's and JMH's frequent contacts with Wayerski and their overnight stays at his residence (116:93-96, 110-14). JMH's father also testified about the day that he picked JMH and JDP up after they left Wayerski's house. They called JMH's father because "some weird stuff had been happening for a while" and that Wayerski had been molesting them (116:119). The father observed that they had been drinking (116:120), which was consistent with JDP's and JMH's statements and testimony that Wayerski had plied them with alcohol (116:49, 73, 120, 185-86).

JDP also testified that Wayerski had directed him to masturbate on to a plate (116:46-48). Officers recovered the plate from Wayerski's apartment, along with Vaseline and dog leashes (116:211-12, 224). DNA extracted from the plate belonged to JDP (117:81-82).

Detective Scott Kuehn, who had extensive experience investigating sexual assault cases (116:203), interviewed both JDP and JMH. Kuehn observed that both had demeanors that were consistent with other victims of sexual assault cases that Kuehn had investigated (116:205-08).

After officers executed the search warrant at Wayerski's apartment, Kuehn spoke with Wayerski by telephone. Kuehn did not tell Wayerski what he was investigating (116:228). Wayerski volunteered that officers would find "really kinky stuff" on his computer, including bondage, sadomasochism ("S and M"), spanking, and "homosexual stuff" (116:228-29). Wayerski stated that a former roommate, Zach, placed it there (116:229). During conversation, Wayerski this stated that he was contemplating suicide (116:231-32). Wayerski told Kuehn that he knew that JDP and JMH consumed alcohol and did nothing to stop them (116:233). But at trial, Wayerski said that he did not know about JDP and JMH's alcohol usage and pornography watching at his residence (118:166-67, 169-70).

Zach testified that he stayed at Wayerski's apartment. He contradicted Wayerski's assertion that he had viewed pornography on the computer or had been thrown out of the apartment for viewing "kiddy" pornography (117:47). Zach stated that on one or two occasions, he met a younger male with the name of "J" at Wayerski's apartment.<sup>3</sup> On one occasion, he saw the person known to him as "J" sitting on a couch without a shirt while Wayerski was present and clothed (117:43:44).

Any error here in admitting this evidence was harmless. Both JDP and JMH relayed similar, compelling stories about how their initial contacts with Wayerski through their misdeeds culminated in his sexual offenses against them. Considerable physical evidence and testimony from citizens and law enforcement corroborated their testimony. The jury had the opportunity to fully consider and reject Wayerski's defense that JDP and JMH set him up. *See* Section I.C., above. This Court should not reverse Wayerski's convictions because there is no reasonable possibility that any errors in admitting this evidence contributed to his conviction.

- IV. Even if the prosecutor failed to disclose a witness' pending charges to Wayerski, the nondisclosure does not undermine confidence in the verdict.
  - A. General principles regarding a prosecutor's obligations under *Brady v. Maryland*, and standard of review.

A prosecutor's suppression of evidence favorable to an accused violates due process when the evidence is material to guilt or to punishment. *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). *Brady* also encompasses impeachment evidence. *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972).

To establish "a *Brady* violation," a defendant must show that: (1) the evidence was favorable to the accused as either

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> JDP and JMH have the same first name (116:5, 127) and it is the same name that Wayerski used in Zach's presence.

exculpatory or impeaching; (2) the State suppressed the evidence, either willfully or inadvertently; and (3) the evidence must be material in that prejudice ensued from its suppression. *State v. Harris*, 2004 WI 64, ¶ 15, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737, (citing *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999)).

Only information within the State's exclusive possession is subject to disclosure under *Brady*. "Exclusive control will not be presumed where the witness is available to the defense and the record fails to disclose an excuse for the defense's failure to question him." *State v. Sarinske*, 91 Wis. 2d 14, 36, 280 N.W.2d 725 (1979).

A defendant does not suffer "prejudice" under *Brady* unless "the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 435 (1995) (footnote omitted). "[S]trictly speaking, there is never a real '*Brady* violation' unless the nondisclosure was so serious that there is a reasonable probability that the suppressed evidence would have produced a different verdict." *Strickler*, 527 U.S. at 281. The reasonable probability standard aligns with the harmless error standard. *See Id.* at 299; *see also State v. Randall*, 197 Wis. 2d 29, 38, 539 N.W.2d 708 (Ct. App. 1995) (applying harmless error analysis to assess the impact of the State's failure to disclose impeachment information regarding a witness' pending case).

Whether the State violated the defendant's right to due process under *Brady* is a question of constitutional fact subject to this court's independent review. *See State v. Sturgeon,* 231 Wis. 2d 487, 496, 605 N.W.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1999). The underlying historical facts as found by the trial court remain subject to the clearly erroneous test. *Id.* 

#### **B.** Procedural history related to this claim.

The State charged Wayerski in July 2011 (1). John Clark, an inmate in the Chippewa County jail, contacted authorities following his contact with Wayerski. On September 16, 2011, Eau Claire County Sheriff's Deputy Scott Kuehn met with Clark (122:8). Clark told Kuehn about Wayerski's statements to him while they were in the county jail. Clark did not ask for any consideration from law enforcement in exchange for his cooperation nor did law enforcement offer Clark anything for his statement (122:43-44).<sup>4</sup> In April 2012, Kuehn spoke with Clark to confirm that Clark was willing to have his identity disclosed. Kuhn documented this contact in his reports (122:9, 44-45).

When Kuehn spoke to Clark, Kuehn understood that Clark was on a probation hold (122:58). Kuehn was unaware of any pending criminal charges (122:55). The Chippewa County District Attorney did not charge Clark until September 7, 2012, almost a year after Kuehn interviewed Clark (122:57; 85:1).

Trial counsel knew that Clark was in jail (121:69). Trial counsel testified that he conducted a Circuit Court Automation Programs (CCAP) website check on Clark before trial. "[W]hen I did some background on Mr. Clark, CCAP, I was just concentrating on his convictions" (121:21). But later stated that he was not sure if he or his investigator "did any CCAPing on him" or just relied on other information (121:69).

In his response to Wayerski's postconviction motion, the prosecutor indicated that days before the trial, he learned about Clark's pending case through a CCAP search (88:19). At the postconviction hearing, the circuit court received the CCAP docket sheet for Clark's case (121:89). The docket sheet reflects documents for several events that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The record contains several manila envelopes that are marked confidential, but not assigned record numbers. One envelope is marked: "State v. Gary L. Wayerski, Confidential Transcripts, Judge William Stewart" and has a file stamp dated July 27, 2012, Dunn County Clerk of Court and Confidential. The prosecutor's name is on the envelope. The envelope includes several transcripts, including a transcript of Kuehn's 2011 interview with Clark.

occurred before Wayerski's trial on October 8, 2012, including the filing of the complaint, Clark's initial appearance, a waiver of time limits, and a bond hearing (84:3-5). The prosecutor obtained a copy of the complaint. The prosecutor did not believe that Clark's pending Chippewa County charges related to Wayerski's case or the veracity of Clark's statement years earlier. The prosecutor did not directly notify trial counsel of the pending case (88:19).

The State called Clark in rebuttal. Clark was in the Chippewa County jail on a probation hold in August and September 2011 (118:216). Clark had twenty prior convictions (118:216). Clark and Wayerski were housed together during this period (118:216-17). According to Clark, Wayerski made incriminating statements to him about his crimes (118:219-25). Clark testified that he was neither offered anything nor asked for a lighter penalty or sentence in any other matter in return for his testimony (118:225-26).

### C. Information about Clark's pending charge constituted material impeachment evidence, but it was not in the State's exclusive possession.

A defendant has a right to challenge a witness' bias. The existence of pending criminal charges is a source of bias and an appropriate subject matter for cross-examination. *State v. Barreau*, 2002 WI App 198, ¶ 55, 257 Wis. 2d 203, 651 N.W.2d 12. Chippewa County's issuance of charges against Clark certainly provided grounds for Wayerski to challenge Clark's bias. The State agrees that this is material impeachment information. But the State disagrees that its failure to provide Wayerski with this piece of information constituted a *Brady* violation.

The State's *Brady* obligation is only triggered if the evidence is in the State's exclusive possession and control. *Sarinske*, 91 Wis. 2d at 36; *see also* cases cited in *State v*. *Amundson*, 69 Wis. 2d 554, 573, 230 N.W.2d 775 (1975).

Despite the supreme court's repeated references to "exclusive possession" in these cases, this Court, without reference to any authority, has previously placed the burden on the State to provide updated information about the State's witnesses. It stated that requiring a defendant to timely search public records would place "an intolerable burden on the defense; namely, to continually comb the public records to see if any of the State's witnesses are facing pending criminal charges." *Randall*, 197 Wis. 2d at 38.

The facts in this case, however, illustrate that the rationale in *Randall* no longer carries weight. The information about Clark's criminal charges was not only not in the State's exclusive possession or control,<sup>5</sup> it was a matter of public record, readily accessible and free to anyone through CCAP.

Here, the prosecutor learned about Clark's case filing shortly before trial through CCAP (88:19). Likewise, trial counsel used CCAP to check witness backgrounds (121:68). At one point in his testimony, trial counsel testified that he checked CCAP for information about Clark, but "was just concentrating on his convictions" (121:21). But later he said, "I can't state with one hundred percent specificity that I did any CCAPing on him" (121:69). Conducting a basic CCAP search is hardly "an intolerable burden on the defense" to perform.

Based on this record, this Court can reasonably conclude that information about Clark's pending charges was publicly available through CCAP, and not within the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Wayerski has not suggested that the prosecutor or the investigators otherwise knew about Clark's pending charges before the prosecutor discovered that another prosecutor's office had filed charges shortly before trial. The circuit court found that the prosecutor did not intentionally withhold the evidence and that it was "simply a misunderstanding of the State's obligation to provide this information" (123:131).

State's exclusive possession or control. And if this Court reaches this conclusion, then no *Brady/Giglio* violation occurred. But if this Court determines that *Randall* controls,<sup>6</sup> even though the public now has greater access to court records than when this Court decided *Randall*, this Court must still decide whether the State's failure to disclose the pending charges prejudiced Wayerski.

## D. The circuit court correctly determined that the State's failure to disclose information about Clark's recently filed case was harmless.

The circuit court applied harmless error analysis (123:131). Based on its review of the record, it found the evidence of Wayerski's guilt was substantial and denied his *Brady* claim (123:139). A review of the record supports the conclusion that there was no reasonable probability that disclosure of Clark's pending case would have resulted in a "not guilty" verdict.

Clark's credibility was impeached at trial. The jury knew that Clark was being held in jail on a probation hold when he spoke to Wayerski (118:216). It also knew that Clark had approximately twenty prior convictions (118:216). Wayerski also attacked Clark's credibility, asserting that the information that Clark provided was information that was readily accessible through other sources (119:80). As trial counsel observed, why would Wayerski ask Clark, who had twenty convictions, for advice as to how to handle his case (119:83).

In its analysis, the circuit court noted that Clark reported Wayerski's statements to authorities in September 2011, just over a year before his trial (123:132), and a year before Chippewa County authorities charged him (122:57;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Cook v. Cook, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) (court of appeals is powerless to overrule or modify its own precedent).

85:1). The circuit court observed that Wayerski did not suggest that Clark's testimony was inconsistent with his prior statements, which prompted the circuit court to conclude that Clark's testimony was much the same as his prior statement (123:132).

The circuit court concluded that the jury would have found Wayerski guilty even without Clark's testimony due to the "compelling evidence" the State presented (123:135). After reviewing the entire trial record, the circuit court concluded that the victims provided detailed information about the incidents involving Wayerski. Physical evidence from Wayerski's apartment, the parents' statements, and Waverski's roommate's statement, corroborated the victims' statements (123:136). The defense offered no alternative explanation for how a victim's DNA was found in the apartment (123:137). The circuit court also noted that Wayerski's testimony was inconsistent, undermining his credibility. It also observed that Wayerski's defense did not make sense in light of the overwhelming evidence (123:136-37).<sup>7</sup> Any error in failing to disclose the evidence about Clark's pending charge was harmless.

## V. Sufficient evidence supported the jury's seven guilty verdicts on a charge of sexual assault of a child by a person who works or volunteers with children.

The jury found Wayerski guilty of seven counts of sexual assault of a child by a person who works or volunteers with children, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.095(3)(a) (38:1-2). Wayerski argues that the State presented insufficient evidence to convict of this offense. He

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In support of the harmless error argument, the State also relies on its summation of the record in its discussion of his ineffective assistance of counsel claim in Section I.C., above, and the admissibility of the sexually oriented evidence and harmless error analysis in Sections IIIB.1., & C above.

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